Case 4:15-cv-00053-DLH-CSM Document 1 Filed 05/05/15 Page 1 of 25

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NORTH DAKOTA

Civil Action No.:

UNITED STATES SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff,
V.

NORTH DAKOTA DEVELOPMENTS, LLC,
ROBERT L. GAVIN, and
DANIEL J. HOGAN,

Defendants,
and

NORTH DAKOTA DEVELOPMENTS
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT LLC,

GREAT AMERICAN LODGE LLC,

NDD HOLDINGS 1 LLC,

NDD HOLDINGS 2 LLC,

NDD MODULAR LLC,

AUGUSTA EXPLORATION, LLC,

AMES ENGINEERING & DEVELOPMENT
SERVICES LLC, and

Relief Defendants.
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As its Complaint, Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges as follows:
SUMMARY
1. This matter concerns an offering fraud and Ponzi scheme conducted by North
Dakota Developments, LLC (“NDD”) and its owners Robert L. Gavin and Daniel J. Hogan.
Since May 2012, Defendants have fraudulently raised over $62 million from hundreds of

investors in various states in the U.S. and foreign countries through the sale of interests in the
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development of short-term housing or “man camps” for workers in the Bakken oil field region of
North Dakota and Montana. Defendants sold these interests in four NDD projects — Watford
West, Montana, Watford East, and Transhudson. Watford West, the first project, was sold in
three phases, with the first phase beginning in May, 2012. Defendants began selling the second
and third phases of Watford West in November, 2012, and April, 2013. Defendants sold
interests in the Montana project beginning in August 2013, interests in Watford East beginning
in February, 2014, and Transhudson beginning in June 2014. Defendants are still selling
interests in some of the projects.

2. The interest sold to investors by defendants were marketed as purchases of “units”
in real estate developments, but the interests were managed collectively along with other
investors’ interests and were securities under the federal securities laws.

3. Defendants, in written offering materials and through commissioned agents,
represented to potential investors that investment in these man camp projects would provide
exceptionally high annual returns, up to 42%, in the first year of the project. In addition,
Defendants offered investors the option of receiving a “guaranteed” or “assured” annual return of
up to 25% of the purchase price of their unit, without regard to actual rental income. As further
inducement to invest, Defendants also promised investors that the various man camp projects
would be operational in a very short time frame, often within months.

4, In reality, NDD, Gavin, and Hogan each knew that at least by late 2013 NDD’s
first man camp project was significantly delayed and occupancy was low and that the remaining
projects were delayed or not yet begun. As a result, Defendants promised returns were

unreasonable after that time. Moreover, even at the present time, none of the projects is fully
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operational and one of the projects offered does not even have governmental approval for
construction to begin.

5. The only partially operational project, referred to as “Watford West,” has
operated at a loss. However, despite Watford West’s lack of profits, Defendants have made
Ponzi-style payments to investors in Watford West by paying investors “guaranteed returns” in
the Watford West project using funds from investors in later NDD projects. Defendants have not
paid any returns to investors in the other projects.

6. In addition, instead of developing the man camp projects as promised, Defendants
misappropriated over $25 million of investor funds. NDD used these funds to pay undisclosed
commissions to brokers, make payments to Hogan and Gavin, make investments in unrelated
Bakken projects for Hogan and Gavin’s personal benefit, and make the Ponzi-like payments
discussed above.

7. As part of the scheme, Defendants made material misrepresentations and
omissions regarding the use of investor funds, the payment of commissions, and the return on the
investment, directly to investors and indirectly to investors through agents they provided
marketing materials and paid commissions.

8. As a result of the conduct described in this Complaint, Defendants directly or
indirectly engaged in transactions, acts, practices, or courses of business that constitute violations
of Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15. U.S.C. 8§
77e(a), 77e(c), and 77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5].

Unless Defendants are restrained and enjoined, they will continue to engage in the transactions,

acts, practices, and courses of business set forth in this Complaint, and will continue to violate of
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Sections 5(a), 5(c), and17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d), and
22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. 88 77t(b), 77t(d), and 77v(a)], Sections 21(d), 21(e), and
27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 88 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa]. Defendants, directly or
indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate
commerce, the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, in connection
with the acts, practices, and courses of business set forth in this Complaint.

10. Venue lies in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act and
Section 27(a) of the Exchange Act. NDD resides within this district and certain of the acts,
practices, transactions, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint occurred within the
District of North Dakota.

11. In addition, the Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants Gavin and Hogan
because they traveled to this district, and conducted, and directed business through and on behalf
of NDD in this district.

DEFENDANTS AND RELATED ENTITIES

12. North Dakota Developments, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company
registered to do business in North Dakota with the North Dakota Secretary of State and
maintaining a place of business in Williston, North Dakota. NDD is a purported Bakken-area
real estate developer. Gavin owns 80 percent of NDD, and Hogan owns 20 percent. NDD has
never registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act or a class of securities under

the Exchange Act. NDD has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity.
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13. Robert L. Gavin (“Gavin”) is a resident of Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Gavin is a
managing member, along with Hogan, of NDD and serves as NDD’s Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”). As majority owner, managing member, and CEO of NDD, Gavin exercised control
over the management, general operations, and policies of NDD, as well as certain of the
activities upon which NDD’s violations are based. In 2012 and 2013, Gavin traveled to North
Dakota on behalf of NDD to establish NDD’s operations. Gavin directs NDD’s activities in
North Dakota by the use of email and telephone calls made to NDD employees in North Dakota.
In addition, Gavin has a home in Florida. Gavin also directly interacted with a U.S.-based agent
hired to promote NDD’s securities, and drafted, reviewed, and approved materials used to solicit
U.S. and foreign investors in NDD projects. Gavin is an authorized signatory on NDD’s U.S.
bank accounts, directed Hogan to use investor funds to make payments from those accounts, and
exercised ultimate authority over those bank accounts. Gavin also obtained compensation from
NDD out of investor funds and authorized the misuse of investor funds, including executing
various contracts that constituted the misappropriation of investor assets.

14, Daniel J. Hogan (“Hogan”) is a resident of the United Kingdom. Hogan is a
managing member, along with Gavin, of NDD and serves as NDD’s Chief Operating Officer
(“COQ”). As owner, managing member, and COO of NDD, Hogan exercised control over the
management, general operations, and policies of NDD, as well as certain of the activities upon
which NDD’s violations are based. Hogan participated in in-person meetings in the United
States with 15-20 investors, potential investors, and/or agents in NDD projects, provided training
to NDD’s sales agents, reviewed and approved materials used to solicit investors in NDD
projects, and exercised authority over NDD’s bank accounts and use of investor funds. Hogan

also obtained compensation from NDD out of investor funds. Since 2013, Hogan has spent
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approximately 75 percent of his time in North Dakota transacting business for himself and NDD.
Hogan maintains personal bank accounts at financial institutions located in North Dakota.

15. Relief Defendants. Defendants created various U.S. entities through which they
engaged in their scheme and transferred misappropriated assets and funds, including, but not
limited to, North Dakota Developments Property Management, Great American Lodge, NDD
Holdings 1, NDD Holdings 2, NDD Modular, and Ames Engineering & Development Services.
Each of the foregoing entities are limited liability companies organized in North Dakota or
authorized to do business in North Dakota and with a place of business in North Dakota.
Defendants also transferred some investor funds to Augusta Exploration, LLC, a Montana
limited liability company maintaining an office in Whitefish, Montana. Defendants exercised
control over the management, general operations, and policies of each entity identified in this
paragraph.

FACTS

NDD’s Offerings

16. From approximately May 2012 through the present, NDD raised over $62 million
from hundreds of investors in over a dozen states in the United States and several other
countries, including the United Kingdom, France, Spain, and Australia.

17. NDD obtained these funds by offering individuals the opportunity to invest in
four temporary housing projects in the Bakken oil field region of North Dakota and Montana:

o Watford West — a man camp using modular housing units on State Road 85 in
Arnegard, North Dakota;

. Montana — a man camp using modular housing units in Culbertson, Montana;
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o Watford East — a proposed man camp using modular housing units east of
Watford City, North Dakota on Route 23; and

. Transhudson Hotel — a proposed hotel development also using modular
construction on Route 23 in Parshall, North Dakota.

18.  Watford West, the first project, was sold in three phases, with the first phase
beginning in May, 2012. Defendants began selling the second and third phases of Watford West
in November, 2012, and April, 2013. NDD sold interests in the Montana project beginning in
August 2013, interests in Watford East beginning in February, 2014, and in Transhudson
beginning in June 2014. NDD is still selling interests in some of the projects.

19. NDD marketed these projects through a website (nddgroup.com), print and online
advertisements, email blasts, in-person meetings and seminars, conference calls, and flyers.
NDD marketed the projects directly and through the use of agents who were paid commissions.
The primary and standard marketing documents NDD used to solicit investors were offering
materials in the form of “flyers” — colorful, glossy documents ranging from 10-20 pages that
were distributed by email or available for download online. The flyers were project specific and
separate flyers were used for each of the projects. The flyers were drafted, reviewed, and/or
approved by Hogan and Gavin.

20.  Although each of the projects was in a different location and marketed separately,
the investment structure and the benefits to investors were presented in substantially similar
fashion. Investors bought “units” in NDD’s projects motivated by the potential returns that NDD
would provide from jointly managing all of the units in a fully-developed “man camp,” complete

with amenities typically found in a hotel or motel.
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21. The Watford West brochure projected first year investor income of 36% to 42%
and average investor income over ten years of 48% to 56%. Later on, defendants continued to
tout its “massive” annual returns from the Watford project, but also offered investors the option
of a 23.5% guaranteed annual return for investment in the Watford West project.

22.  Similarly, the Montana brochure projected first year investor income of 33% to
39% and average investor income over ten years of 46% to 55%. The Watford East brochure
projected first year investor income of approximately 33%. In the Transhudson brochure,
defendants promised investors a 20% guaranteed return, with a guaranteed buy-back of the
investment after three years at the purchase price plus 10%.

23.  The Montana, Watford East, and Transhudson brochures each touted NDD
“success” with the Watford West project. They highlighted NDD’s rapid completion of the
project and promised high occupancy and high rental rates to investors.

24.  While NDD marketed their investments as purchases of “units” in real estate
developments, as explained further below, the investments were in fact securities under the
federal securities laws.

25.  Although according to NDD investor “units” represented a fractional interest in a
modular housing unit at one of the four sites developed by NDD, investors were never provided
with a title or deed to the property evidencing their ownership. The purchase price for the units
varied, but typically ranged from $50,000 to $90,000, in addition to a “booking fee” paid directly
to NDD.

26. Investors agreed to transfer their investments in the man camp projects to an
escrow agent in the United States. The marketing flyers stated that the funds would only be

released to NDD in stages: 35 percent immediately; 35 percent when the unit was “ready to ship
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from the factory”; and the final 30 percent when unit was placed on the site and “ready for
occupation.” NDD represented to investors in marketing flyers that the escrow account process
would add layer of security to the investment and ensure that funds were only released to NDD
after it reached a project milestone.

27.  Atthe same time as investors agreed to make their investment, they also executed
a management agreement with NDD. NDD’s collective management of the units as an
integrated man camp was an essential element of the investment. NDD “strongly
recommend[ed]” that investors select NDD to manage the unit and created material restrictions
on investors choosing to manage their own units. NDD required investors to pay a punitive
“lease” payment to NDD, ostensibly for leasing the ground under their unit, of $24,000 per year;
a fee that NDD waived if NDD managed the unit. Not surprisingly, every investor agreed to
have NDD manage their units.

28. Under the management agreement, NDD agreed to pay either a fixed return to
investors of up to 25 percent per year based on the purchase price of the unit — which NDD
touted as “guaranteed” or “assured” — or a variable rate of return based on half of the gross rents
collected by NDD. In marketing materials, NDD agreed to pay so-called “guaranteed” returns
“regardless of the actual rental income received, whether higher or lower than the actual income
derived from” investor units.

29. Investors agreeing to variable returns based on rental income expected to
participate in profit-sharing or rental pooling. In the Watford West project, NDD has pooled the
rental income among all units and paid it out to investors, pro rata. For the Montana and
Watford East projects, NDD agreed to manage all of the units on the site collectively so that all

units were rented for approximately the same number of nights at similar rates. The
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Transhudson project provided only an “assured” return of 20%, unrelated to actual unit rental
occupancy or rental rates.

NDD’s Offering Materials Promised Exceptional Investment Returns

30. NDD enticed investors with remarkable claims regarding potential investment
returns. These claims featured prominently and repeatedly on the marketing materials which
were drafted, reviewed, and/or approved by Hogan and Gavin. For example, the first page of a

Watford West flyer reads:

vpto 42% ANNUAL RENTAL YIELDS

v’ Fully serviced workforce accommodation

v Up to 42% rental yield in year 1

v" Average annual rental yield over 10 years of 56%
v’ Invest from $30,950

Defendants later claimed in the same flyer that these projected returns were based on
“pessimistic” assumptions.

31. In flyers for the Montana project, NDD touted the purported “success” of their
first project (Watford West) and claimed that the “Investment Potential” of the project could
yield “39% in one year.” NDD claimed the investment would “provide long term passive
income.” NDD also told investors in flyers that the Montana project would be completed by
April 2014.

32. Similarly, in flyers for the Watford East project, NDD touted their “significant
success in 2013 and represented that investors could receive “up to 34% net in year one.” NDD
claimed the project would provide “investors with credible and consistent rental income for the

long term.” NDD also told investors in flyers that all necessary permits to build the project

10
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“will be granted.” In emails to investors, NDD stated that a “conservative” completion date for
the project was November 2014.

33. In the Watford East and Montana flyers, NDD claim that its projected investor
returns were based on “very realistic” assumptions that the man camps would have 90%
occupancy and charge approximately $140 per night.

34. Finally, in flyers for the Transhudson Hotel project, NDD promised not only
attractive and “assured” returns but also promised to buy back investors’ units after three years at
110% of the original purchase price, claiming that it had a “large asset base” from which to buy
back the units. Again touting its “significant success in 2013,” NDD stated the project would be
“operational in summer 2015.”

NDD’s Projects Are Delayed, Unprofitable, or Non-Existent

35. Far from examples of “success,” NDD’s projects range from disappointing and
underperforming to non-existent. By at least the fall of 2013, Defendants knew that the Watford
West project was suffering delays in construction and was significantly less profitable than
expected. The Watford West project is still only partially operational. The Montana project has
some units on-site but is not operational and has none of the promised amenities, such as food or
laundry. The Transhudson project is in its initial stages — no units are on site or being
manufactured. Finally, the Watford East project has not even started — there are no ground
works, no units being manufactured, and no local government approval for the projects. In fact,
local authorities have twice denied approval for the Watford East project, most recently in
December 2014.

36. Despite the lack of progress and the substantial additional work required to bring

the projects to completion, NDD had, as of February 2015, less than $100,000 in its operating

11
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account, the account to which escrowed investor funds are transferred. NDD also owes various
project vendors and contractors several hundred thousand dollars. Due to the non-payment of
such vendors, the project properties are subject to construction liens.

37. The one project that is partially operational has performed poorly. Watford West
has been beset by multiple project delays, cost overruns, and mismanagement. These problems
have directly impacted the performance of the project. Occupancy rates for the operational
portion of the project have been below what was provided investors. Likewise, the rates
achieved have been below what was represented to investors. For example, during June 2014,
Watford West was only 23% occupied and charged an average daily rate of $76 per night. In
August 2014, occupancy was still low, at 30%, and with an average daily rate of $80 per night.

38.  Although learning of significant delays and other problems by the fall of 2013,
Defendants continued to represent in the marketing materials for the Montana, Watford East, and
Transhudson projects that these projects would generate substantial annual returns in the first
year of the investment. NDD, Gavin and Hogan each knew, or were reckless in not knowing,
however, that NDD had experienced losses on NDD’s only previous project, Watford West.
Given Defendants’ actual experience with Watford West, Defendants claims of significant
returns for the Montana, Watford East, and Transhudson projects were unreasonable.

39.  Atthe time Defendants represented in the marketing materials for the Montana,
Watford East, and Transhudson projects that the projects would be completed by April 2014,
November 2014, and Summer 2015, respectively, NDD, Gavin and Hogan each knew, or were
reckless in not knowing, that NDD’s only previous project, Watford West, was significantly
delayed and not fully operational. Given Defendants’ actual experience with Watford West,

Defendants could not reasonably make a claim of the completion date for the later projects.

12
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Defendants Misappropriated Investor Funds.

40.  As stated above, investors deposit their funds into an escrow account in the
United States. Investor funds are then transferred to NDD’s main operating bank account, which
is in a North Dakota bank. Gavin and Hogan controlled this operating account and all other
NDD bank accounts and therefore had access to and control over all of the investor funds. NDD
had no internal controls over Hogan’s and Gavin’s use of investor funds and until recently
NDD’s own accountants were not permitted to view activity in the NDD operating account.
NDD accounting records are incomplete and the company has not tracked project expenses.

41. NDD received approximately $62 million from investors into the main U.S.
operating account controlled by Gavin and Hogan, and less than $100,000 was left in the account
in February 2015 despite the lack of progress on NDD’s projects. Rather than use investor funds
on the man-camp projects, Defendants have misappropriated investor funds by spending it on
unrelated projects for Hogan’s and Gavin’s benefit.

42. Defendants used $1.9 million of investor funds from its main operating account to
finance an oil and gas project in the name of Augusta Exploration, LLC, of which NDD is a
member. Defendants Hogan and Gavin authorized this misuse of funds.

43. Beginning in February, 2013, Defendants used at least $5.5 million of investor
funds from its main operating account to engage in several real estate transactions in the U.S.
unrelated to any investor project, including:

e $1.65 million for the purchase of approximately 19 acres of land near Williston,
North Dakota in the name of NDD Holdings 1 LLC.
e $1.395 million for the purchase of approximately 2.3 acres of land in Williston,

North Dakota in the name of NDD Holdings 1 LLC.

13



Case 4:15-cv-00053-DLH-CSM Document 1 Filed 05/05/15 Page 14 of 25

e $1.19 million in connection with a lease-to-own real estate transaction in Trenton,
North Dakota. In connection with this transaction, Defendants made certain
additional payments of at least $250,000 through Great American Lodge, LLC, an
entity under Hogan and Gavin’s control.
e $686,000 for the purchase of land for a single-family residential development
called Horizon Ridge in the name of NDD Holdings 2 LLC.
e $500,000 for the purchase of real estate and inventory in Central City, Nebraska
in the name of NDD Modular, LLC
Defendants Hogan and Gavin are the beneficial owners of these projects and authorized this
misuse of funds.

44, Defendants also used $500,000 to fund an engineering company, Ames
Engineering & Development Services, LLC.

45, Defendants also misappropriated over $1.3 million for their direct personal
benefit. Hogan transferred over $1 million from the NDD operating account to his personal
account in the United States and transferred $350,000 from NDD’s operating account to a bank
account in Malaysia for Gavin’s benefit.

46. In addition, Defendants have spent at least $2.2 million of investor funds on items
characterized by NDD as administrative overhead, including over $1.97 million transferred from
NDD’s U.S. operating account into bank accounts in the United Kingdom in the name of NDD
UK. These funds were used, among other things, to provide additional compensation to Gavin
and Hogan and pay commissions to NDD employees for raising money for NDD’s projects.

Hogan also spent almost $250,000 from the NDD operating account on meals, alcohol,
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entertainment, and other expenses while working in the United States, even though inadequate
accounting records exist to substantiate the business purpose of these amounts.

47. Defendants never disclosed to any investor that investor funds would be diverted
to fund other projects beneficially owned by Gavin and Hogan. Such information would have
been material to investors.

48.  After early 2014, when Defendants represented in the offering materials that NDD
would provide a guaranteed and/or variable returns, NDD, Gavin and Hogan each knew, or were
reckless in not knowing, that the projects would not or did not generate sufficient investment
return to pay investors and that Defendants had, in fact, misappropriated investor funds.

Defendants Paid Over $10 Million in Undisclosed Commissions.

49, Defendants used agents to procure investor funds for their scheme. NDD
provided agents with marketing materials for use in soliciting investors. NDD would pay agents
a minimum of 10 percent, and depending on the amount of money raised by the agent, up to 20
percent. NDD would pay the agents in stages, as funds were disbursed from escrow to NDD.
Over the course of their scheme, NDD paid over $10.3 million to agents, or approximately 16.5
percent of the total investor proceeds received. Defendants did not disclose to investors in the
offering materials or otherwise that it paid commissions, nor did Defendants instruct agents to
disclose commissions to investors. Disclosure of the payment of Commissions from investors
funds would have been material to investors.

Defendants Made Ponzi-Like Payments to Early Stage Investors

50. The Watford West project has been operating at a loss. As such, the Watford
West project has not generated the profits necessary to pay the promised, “guaranteed” returns to

investors. To make up that shortfall, NDD has transferred money from the primary NDD
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operating account, containing money from later stage investors, to accounts in the name of North
Dakota Developments Property Management LLC in order to pay returns to early stage
investors. Upon information and belief, over $2.4 million in funds from later stage investors
have been used by NDD to pay returns to investors in the Watford West project. However, now
that NDD has run out of money and Watford West is unprofitable, NDD is no longer paying
Watford West investors their “guaranteed” returns.

51.  After early 2014, when Defendants represented that NDD would provide
guaranteed returns, NDD, Gavin, and Hogan each knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that
the projects would not or did not generate sufficient profits to pay investors and that Defendants
had, in fact, made Ponzi-like payments to early stage investors.

Defendants Misappropriated Money From Escrow.

52. Defendants claimed in flyers that their investment process was “transparent” and
“secure” and that NDD would only receive funds from escrow upon meeting certain milestones.
The use of escrow, maintained by a United States law firm in a United States bank account, was
touted by NDD as an added layer of protection for investors.

53. NDD told investors that their second installment of the purchase price would only
be released to NDD when investors’ units were “ready to ship from the factory.” NDD also told
investors that the final portion of the purchase price would only be released to NDD when the
unit was placed on the site and “ready for occupation.”

54.  Contrary to NDD’s representations, Defendants caused second and third stage
disbursements from escrow even though units were not “ready to ship” or “ready for
occupation.” For example, several second stage payments were made for the Montana project

even though the units were not ready to ship from the factory. Further, several third stage
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payments have been made for the Watford West project even though the units do not have
electricity and do not have a certificate of occupancy from the local authorities and, therefore,
are not “ready for occupation.” Defendants caused the early disbursements from escrow by
making false statements to the escrow agent regarding project status. The amount prematurely
released from escrow appears to exceed $1 million.

55.  Atthe time Defendants represented in the offering materials that NDD would only
receive funds from escrow upon meeting certain milestones, NDD, Gavin, and Hogan each
knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that NDD either planned to or, in fact, had
misappropriated escrow funds.

Defendants Perpetuated the Fraud Through Lulling Tactics.

56.  As Defendants’ scheme began to unravel, Defendants engaged in conduct
designed to “lull” investors; tempering complaints and reducing requests for refunds. First,
Defendants purported to make “rebate” payments to certain investors to compensate them for
delays in the projects. Second, Defendants offered to transfer investors in later, un-started
projects such as Watford East into a different project referred to as the Bakken Base Camp
(“*BBC”) which is an operational man in North Dakota owned by a third party. NDD, however,
does not own the BBC and the occupancy and average daily rates of the BBC are substantial
lower than those touted in the original projects sold to investors.

Gavin and Hogan Made Material Misrepresentations and Omissions

57. As the owners, managing members, and senior-most officers of NDD, Gavin and
Hogan exercised ultimate authority over the content and distribution of the investment
documents used by NDD, including the marketing flyers. Gavin and Hogan authored, reviewed,

authorized, and/or distributed the various offering materials transmitted directly to investors or
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indirectly to investors through agents. In those documents, Defendants made material
misrepresentations and omissions regarding the use of investor funds, the payment of
commissions, and the return on the investment, directly to investors and indirectly to investors
through agents they provided marketing materials and paid commissions.

58. Hogan personally participated in in-person meetings in the United States with 15-
20 investors, potential investors, and/or agents. Hogan also provided sales training to NDD’s
agents. Furthermore, Hogan participated in conference calls with investors about NDD projects.
Gavin personally participated in multiple in-person investor seminars for NDD. Gavin also
communicated directly with an NDD sales agent in the United States.

59. Gavin and Hogan knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that NDD’s marketing
materials were false and misleading. Gavin and Hogan controlled NDD’s operations and its
bank accounts. Gavin and Hogan knew they had misappropriated investor funds and made
Ponzi-like payments, and that Watford West was delayed and unprofitable.

Gavin and Hogan Engaged in a Scheme to Defraud.

60. Gavin and Hogan engaged in deceptive acts and a course of business that operated
as a fraud. Gavin and Hogan engaged in the following acts in furtherance of the fraudulent
scheme:

e Gavin and Hogan misappropriated investor funds for personal use;
e Gavin and Hogan cause NDD to make Ponzi-like payments to early stage
investors; and

e Gavin and Hogan caused money to be taken from escrow early;
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NDD’s Offerings Were Securities and Were Not Registered with the SEC or Exempt

From Registration.

61. The definition of a “security” under Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act [15
U.S.C. 8§ 77b(a)(1)] and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 77¢(a)(10)] includes
“any. . . participation in any profit-sharing agreement [or] . . . investment contract.”

62. The NDD projects are securities under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.
The projects are “investment contracts” as defined by Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act and
Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act. The projects are also investment contracts because
investors made an investment of money in a common enterprise, with an expectation of profits to
be derived solely from the efforts of NDD. NDD markets the projects as “investments.”

63. NDD’s offering has raised approximately $62 million from hundreds of investors,
including over $10 million from over 100 investors in several states.

64. Individual investors sent money to NDD with the expectation of sharing in profits
from NDD’s real estate development activities. Consistent with the management agreements
signed by investors, investors expected that NDD would pool investor funds to develop the
projects, manage investor units collectively once the project was operational, and distribute
profits based on the project’s overall success. NDD also promised investors returns “regardless
of the actual rental income received, whether higher or lower than the actual income derived
from the” unit.

65. The investment contract was structured by NDD to ensure that no investor choose
to manage their own unit. NDD “strongly” recommended investors selected NDD to manage the
unit and required that that investors pay a punitive “lease” payment for renting the ground under

their unit, a payment that was waived if an investor agreed to have NDD manage the unit.

19



Case 4:15-cv-00053-DLH-CSM Document 1 Filed 05/05/15 Page 20 of 25

Furthermore, NDD’s promise of “guaranteed” returns was only available if NDD managed the
unit. Every investor selected NDD to manage their unit.

66. Investors expected the profits to come solely from NDD’s real estate development
and management activities. The investors were not required or expected to do anything besides
provide funds in order to receive their returns. NDD described investors’ roles as “passive” in
marketing materials.

67. Defendants offered and sold securities to investors in the United States using the
means or instruments of interstate commerce including but not limited to telephones, the
Internet, and the mails.

68. NDD securities were offered and sold to unaccredited and unsophisticated
investors in the United States, and Defendants did not have reasonable basis to believe that all
NDD investors in the United States were accredited and sophisticated.

69. NDD failed to provide U.S. investors with the information required under Rule
502(b) of Regulation D [17 C.F.R. § 230.502(b)], including an audited balance sheet.

70. NDD did not have a pre-existing substantive relationship with each U.S. investor,
and, therefore, engaged in a general solicitation.

71. NDD’s offering has never been registered with the SEC, or any state securities
authority.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud: Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R.

§ 240.10b-5
(All Defendants)

72. The preceding factual allegations are hereby realleged and incorporated by

reference.
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73. By engaging in the conduct described above Defendants directly or indirectly,
acting with scienter, by use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the
mails, or of a facility of a national securities exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of
a security: employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; made untrue statements of material
fact or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or engaged in acts, practices, or
courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon another person.

74, By reason of the foregoing, Defendants each violated, and, unless restrained and
enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud: Control Person Liability Under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78t(a)] for NDD’s Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 [15

U.S.C. 88 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]
(Gavin and Hogan, Alternatively)

75.  The preceding factual allegations are hereby realleged and incorporated by
reference.

76. NDD, directly or indirectly, acting with scienter, by use of the means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of a facility of a national securities
exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of a security: (a) employed devices, schemes
or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material
facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which
operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon another person.

77.  Gavin, as managing member, CEO, and majority owner of NDD, and Hogan, as
managing member, COO, and owner of NDD, exercised control over the management, general

operations, and policies of NDD, as well as the specific activities upon which NDD’s violations
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are based.

78. By reason of the foregoing, Gavin and Hogan are each liable as control persons
under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act for NDD’s violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud: Aiding and Abetting NDD’s Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and

Rule 10b-5 [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]
(Gavin and Hogan, Alternatively)

79. The preceding factual allegations are hereby realleged and incorporated by
reference.

80. NDD, directly or indirectly, acting with scienter, by use of the means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of a facility of a national securities
exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of a security,: employed devices, schemes or
artifices to defraud; made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading; or engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated
or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon another person.

81. By engaging in the conduct described above, Gavin and Hogan each aided and
abetted the fraud violations of NDD, in that they knowingly or recklessly provided substantial
assistance to NDD in committing these violations.

82. By reason of the foregoing, Gavin and Hogan have each aided and abetted and,
unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to aid and abet, NDD’s violations of Section 10(b)

of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) thereunder.
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud in the Offer or Sale of Securities in Violation of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
[15U.S.C. 8§ 77q(a)]
(All Defendants)

83. The preceding factual allegations are hereby realleged and incorporated by
reference.

84. By engaging in the conduct described above, NDD, Gavin, and Hogan have,
directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities, by use of the means or instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails, employed a
device, scheme or artifice to defraud with scienter; obtained money or property by means of an
untrue statement of material fact or omission to state a material fact necessary in order to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
or engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business that operated or would operate as a
fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities..

85. By reason of the foregoing, NDD, Gavin, and Hogan violated and, unless
restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud: Aiding and Abetting NDD’s Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15

U.S.C. sec. 77q(a)]
(Gavin and Hogan, Alternatively)

86. The preceding factual allegations are hereby realleged and incorporated by
reference.

87. NDD, directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities, by use of the means
or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails,
employed a device, scheme or artifice to defraud with scienter; obtained money or property by
means of an untrue statement of material fact or omission to state a material fact necessary in

order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
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not misleading; or engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business that operated or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities.

88. By engaging in the conduct described above, Gavin and Hogan each aided and
abetted the offering fraud violations of NDD, in that they knowingly or recklessly provided
substantial assistance to NDD in committing these violations.

89. By reason of the foregoing, Gavin and Hogan, and each of them, have aided and
abetted and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to aid and abet, NDD’s violations of
Section 17(a) of the Securities Act.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Sale of Unregistered Securities Violations of Securities Act Sections 5(a) and (c) [15 U.S.C.

88§ 77e(a), 77e(c)]
(All Defendants)

90. The preceding factual allegations are re-alleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

91. Defendants, directly or indirectly, by use of the means or instrumentalities of
interstate commerce or by use of the mails, offered and sold securities or carried or caused such
securities to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, for the purpose of sale or
delivery after sale, when no registration statement had been filed or was in effect as to such
securities.

92. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants violated, and unless enjoined will
continue to violate, Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. 8§88 77e(a), 77e(c)].

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission respectfully requests

that the Court:
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l.
Find that each of the Defendants committed the violations alleged in this Complaint;
1.

Enter preliminary and permanent injunctions, in a form consistent with Rule 65(d) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, temporarily and permanently restraining and enjoining each of
the Defendants from violating, directly or indirectly, the laws and rules alleged in this
Complaint;

1.

Order that each of the Defendants disgorge any and all ill-gotten gains, together with pre-

and post-judgment interest, derived from the improper conduct set forth in this Complaint;
V.

Order that each of the Defendants pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of
the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. 8 77t(d)] and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 8§
78u(d)] in an amount to be determined by the Court, plus post-judgment interest;

V.
Order such other relief as this Court may deem just or appropriate.

Respectfully submitted May 5, 2015.

s/Polly A. Atkinson

Polly A. Atkinson

Attorney for Plaintiff

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
1961 Stout Street, Suite 1700

Denver, CO 80294-1961

(303) 844-1000

Fax No. (303) 297-3529
atkinsonp@sec.gov
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